
  

Frequently Asked Questions 
 
 
Date   May 16, 2022 
 
Company  Interested Vendors 
 
Subject:  RFP 2022-210, Creative Marketing Services 
 
Question 1:  Can firms from outside the United States provide proposals for this project? 
 
Answer: Yes, firms from outside the US are welcome to provide proposals. 
 
Question 2:  Will awarded firms, if located outside the US, be required to travel to the US for 

meetings? 
 
Answer: As needed; at this time, meetings are expected to be virtual. 
 
Question 3:  Will electronic proposals be accepted? 
 
Answer: Yes; per page 4 of the RFP, electronic proposals will be accepted. 
 
Question 4: How many references are required? 
 
Answer: Per page 20 of the RFP, a minimum of three past performance references are 

required. 
 
Question 5: Confirm which email the proposals should be sent to? One page 2 of the RFP it says 

to send electronic proposals to purchasing@mountainline.az.gov and on page 11 it 
says to send them to purchasing@naipta.az.gov.  

 
Answer: Proposals should be sent to purchasing@mountainline.az.gov, but either will work. 
 
Question 6: Do you have a contract term in mind for this solicitation? 
 
Answer: Five years, with two additional optional five year terms. 
 
Question 7: Is there a ballpark budget we should keep in mind for this RFP as we prepare a 

response? 
 
Answer: The percentage of the marketing budget spent with the awarded contractor will vary 

from year to year, so we are seeking hourly rates for various activities. 
 
Question 8: Would you like the compensation section submitted as a separate proposal? It wasn’t 

specified where that should go.  
 
Answer: The pricing should be included with the proposal, in the format of the vendors choice, 

as long as it is accompanied by Attachment 16, Proposal Pricing. 
 
 
Question 9: We note the requirement, “Provide no more than five (5) examples of master 

planning for transit systems of similar size and scope completed in the last five 



  

years.” Can you clarify what you mean by master planning? We understand this to 
mean conducting analysis and presenting proposals for transit but these services 
also include creative marketing services.  

 
Answer: This requirement will be struck from the RFP. Please see the attached Addendum 1. 
 
Question 10: Does the agency have an incumbent or contractor with whom it has conducted this 

work currently or previously? 
 
Answer: Yes, this service has previously been under contract. 
 
Question 11: Can you please define the target audience, to include most specifically the 

geography and ridership status, plus any other demographic restrictions or 
requirements? 

 
Answer:  This will vary from campaign to campaign; examples are Flagstaff residents, 

students, and visitors. 
 
Question 12: As it relates to ridership, will you be able to provide any contact lists of current 

riders/customers? If so, what demographic and contact information is available 
(email addresses, phone numbers)? 

 
Answer: This information is not available at this time.  
 
Question 13: What additional non-opinion data is currently available on travel patterns, industry 

trends, ridership, etc? 
 
Answer: Please would refer to this page for this information: 

https://mountainline.az.gov/about-us/reports-plans/ 
 
Question 14: Will you accept case studies that demonstrate the core competencies but are outside 

transit services? 
 
Answer: Yes, although these may not be ranked as well as examples specific to transit. 
 
Question 15:   Pages 19-20, Section VI, letter E, items #2, “Provide a high-level work plan that 

shows inputs/outputs, milestones, method of documentation and data reporting, 
along with a listing of the Respondents’ Deliverables”, do you want the proposer’s 
response to address its approach to the Scope of Services? Please clarify.   

 
Answer: Yes, that is correct. 
 
Question 16:  Pages 19-20, Section VI, letter E, item #3 does not seem relevant to this project, 

please confirm that this is not a requirement.  
 
Answer: Correct, this is not a requirement. See the attached Addendum 1.  
 
Question 17: Page 20, Section VI, item F does not seem relevant to this project; if it is, please 

clarify. 
 
Answer:  This item is relevant if this type of information is included in a Proposer’s response. It 

is not a requirement to include that type of information.  



  

 
Question 18: Page 21 of the RFP requires certification by the Arizona Corporation Commission. 

Should this be indicated on Attachment 5? Or should it be included elsewhere in the 
proposal? Please clarify. 

 
Answer: This can be included in Attachment 4. 
 
Question 19: Page 21 of the RFP indicates the “lead professional must be properly registered, 

licensed, and certified at the time of submission, if required.” Please confirm no 
registration, licensing, and certification is required for a marketing contract. Is 
Attachment 5 required if no professional licenses are required?   

 
Answer: This requirement is struck from the RFP. See the attached Addendum 1.  
 
Question 20: Should a separate Attachment 4 be completed for each key project team member?  
 
Answer: Yes, that is correct. 
 
Question 21: Does this replace any of the project information provided under Section C Relevant 

Experience or resumes provided under Section D Project Team? 
 
Answer: No, it does not replace that information. 
 
Question 22: How many Representative Projects should be included for each individual? 
 
Answer: There is not a limit, assuming it stays within the page count and is within the required 

5 years. 
 
Question 23: What is the difference between items 9B and 9C? 
 
Answer: 9B is for professional services specifically, while 9C is for any other type of services 

“if applicable”. 
 
Question 24: Can some of the categories under Representative Projects be consolidated? 
 
Answer: Yes, as long as all required information is provided.  
 
Question 25: Can items simply be left off if they aren’t relevant (e.g., LEED certification or 

professional registration)? 
 
Answer: Yes. 
 
Question 26: Attachment 6 – is the proposer responsible for requesting its references fill out this 

form? Or should bidders complete the reference contact info and Mountain Line will 
contact the references to fill out the past performance survey? Does a separate 
Attachment 6 need to be provided for each of the five references requested? 

 
Answer:  Proposer is responsible for sending the reference sheet to references to complete 

and submit to Mountain Line. A separate sheet must be provided per reference. 
 
Question 27: Under the Insurance Requirements (first Attachment 16), several of the requirements 

are not typically included in a marketing services contract, and some of the limits are 



  

higher than is typical for such a contract. Please confirm that the following coverages 
and the listed limits are required for this project or advise otherwise:  

a. Commercial General Liability – premises and operations 
coverage with no explosion, collapse, or underground 
damage exclusions 

b. Commercial General Liability – Projects and completed 
operations coverage, to be maintained for 10 years following 
completion of the work 

c. Excess Liability – very high limit 
d. Errors and Omissions Liability – very high limit 
e. Pollution Legal Liability 

 
Answer: These requirements are all struck. Seethe attached  Addendum 1.  
 
Question 28:  Proposal Pricing is requested on the second Attachment 16. However, this is just a 

signature page. What does a signature on this page signify? 
 
Answer: That the pricing proposed is approved by a person authorized to provide. 
 
Question 29: On the Proposal Pricing (second Attachment 16), it stipulates the proposal will be 

valid for 90 days. However, on page 14, it stipulates the proposal will be valid for 180 
days.  Which is correct?   

 
Answer: The correct term is 180 days. See the attached Addendum 1.  
 
Question 30: In addition to the second Attachment 16 (Proposal Pricing), is there a specific format 

you would like proposers to use to provide pricing for this project? 
 
Answer: Please provide pricing in an hourly rate per team member format.  
 
Sincerely, 
 
Heather Higgins 
Purchasing and Contracts Officer, DBELO 
Mountain Line 
3773 N. Kaspar Dr., Flagstaff, AZ 86004 
W: 928.679.8907 
www.mountainline.az.gov 
 
 
 

http://www.mountainline.az.gov/


  

 
 

Addendum #1 
 
DATE:  October 1, 2019 
 
TO:  All Interested Vendors for Mountain Line RFP 2022-210, Creative Marketing 
Services. 
 
FROM:  Heather Higgins, Purchasing and Contracts Officer, DBELO, DPPA 
 
This addendum (Addendum #1) is hereby made part of RSOQ 2020-300, and shall be considered a 
part of the bid specifications for all purposes including bid preparation and evaluation. 
 
The RFP is amended to strike Page 18, item 1.C “Provide no more than five (5) examples of master 
planning for transit systems of similar size and scope completed in the last five years” from the RFP. 
 
The RFP is amended to strike Page 20, item E.3, “Do not provide any site development or utilization 
solutions for Mountain Line project within your Response. Provide your approach of how your firm 
would develop the highest level of master planning for this Project” from the RFP.  
 
The RFP is amended to clarify that the valid term of the proposal shall be 180 days.  
 
The RFP is amended to strike the following insurance requirements: 
 a. Commercial General Liability – premises and operations coverage with no   
 explosion, collapse, or underground damage exclusions 
 b. Commercial General Liability – Projects and completed operations coverage, to  
  be maintained for 10 years following completion of the work 
 c. Excess Liability  
 d. Errors and Omissions Liability  
 e. Pollution Legal Liability 
All other insurance requirements shall remain.  
 
 
For any questions, contact Heather Higgins, at NAIPTA, 3773 N Kaspar Dr, Flagstaff, Arizona 
86004. Telephone: (928) 679-8907.  Email: purchasing@mountainline.az.gov 
 
This addendum must be signed by an authorized person and submitted with your submittal 
package.   
 
I have read this addendum and understand the information stated above. 
 
 
____________________________________   ________________  
Authorized Signature      Date 
 
 
 
 
Print or Type Name of Authorized Person 
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